
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASE NO.: 17-CV-61937-WPD 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

STUDENT DEBT DOCTOR LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company,  

and 

GARY BRENT WHITE, JR., individually and  

as an officer of Defendant Student Debt Doctor LLC, 

Defendants. 

_____________________________________________/ 

FIRST REPORT OF RECEIVER ROBERT CAREY 

Pursuant to Section XII of the Stipulated Preliminary Injunction [DE 24] (the “PI”), Robert 

Carey, not individually, but solely in his capacity as the Court-appointed receiver (the “Receiver”) 

for Student Debt Doctor LLC (“SDD”),1 submits the following First Report.2  

1  In Section II.B of the PI, SDD is defined as the “Corporate Defendant” and also includes SDD’s 
“divisions, subsidiaries, affiliates, successors, assigns, and any fictitious business entities or 
business names created or used by these entities, or any of them.”  I am currently investigating 
what other SDD-related entities are appropriately covered under this specific definition.  Similarly, 
in Section II.J of the PI, “Receivership Entity(ies)” not only is defined to include SDD but also 
“any other entity that [I] determine[] is controlled or owned by any Defendant and (1) conducted 
any business related to Defendants’ marketing of debt relief services, (2) commingled or pooled 
assets with any Defendant, or (3) otherwise participated in the transfer or receipt of assets 
stemming from any business activity that is the subject of the Complaint in this matter.”  I am also 
currently investigating what other SDD-related entities are appropriately covered as “Receivership 
Entities.”   

2  Section XII of the PI requires me to file a “preliminary report” on or before October 16, 2017, 
and then subsequent Reports every 90 days thereafter.  This First Report is based on my initial 13-
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I. Introduction 

A. Reporting Requirements 

Section XII of the PI requires me to submit this Report (and future Reports) regarding the 

following topics: “(1) the steps taken by [me] to implement the terms of the TRO and [PI]; (2) the 

value of all liquidated and unliquidated assets of the Receivership Entities; (3) the sum of all the 

liabilities of the Receivership Entities; (4) the steps [I] intend[] to take in the future to: (a) prevent 

any diminution in the value of assets of the Receivership Entities, (b) pursue receivership assets 

from third parties, and (c) adjust the liabilities of the Receivership Entities, if appropriate; (5) 

whether the business of the Receivership Entities can be operated lawfully and profitably; and (6) 

any other matters which [I] believe[] should be brought to the Court’s attention.”  

B. Background Summary of the Receivership’s Commencement 

Before specifically addressing in detail the above-listed six topics, and as a matter of 

background, on October 2, 2017, Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) filed a Complaint 

for Permanent Injunction and Other Equitable Relief alleging that Defendants SDD and Gary Brent 

White, Jr. (collectively, “Defendants”) were violating Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

45(a), and the FTC’s Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 310, in connection with 

Defendants’ deceptive marketing and sale of student loan debt relief services.3  The FTC also 

sought an ex parte Temporary Restraining Order with Asset Freeze, Appointment of a Receiver, 

                                                 
day preliminary, ongoing investigation and observations of SDD and the below-mentioned entities, 
and is therefore subject to change as my professionals and I continue to investigate and analyze 
the affairs and conduct of the Receivership Entities.  
 
3  Although SDD is in receivership, it is still listed as a defendant in this proceeding (including its 
various obligations in the TRO and PI), and is represented by Mr. White’s counsel concerning the 
FTC’s pre-receivership allegations against it and Mr. White.  
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and Other Equitable Relief, and an Order to Show Cause Why a Preliminary Injunction Should 

Not Issue (the “TRO”).  

On the following day (i.e., October 3, 2017), this Court granted the relief sought by the 

FTC and issued the TRO [DE 9].  As a result of the FTC’s efforts, this Court appointed me as the 

Receiver for SDD and the other Receivership Entities (defined above and to be determined).  In 

part, this means that this Court ordered me to assume full control of the Receivership Entities and 

to secure, conserve, hold, manage, and prevent the loss of the Receivership Entities’ assets.4   

Since my appointment, my professionals and I have been working tirelessly yet efficiently 

to effectuate my obligations under the TRO (and now the PI).  As further discussed below, this 

work has primarily involved identifying and freezing significant accounts and assets of SDD, 

related entities owned and/or controlled by Mr. White, and Mr. White himself, as well as securing 

three business suites in which SDD and Mr. White’s related entities operated and preserving all 

relevant books and records (both hard copy and voluminous electronically stored information 

(“ESI”)).   

In addition, I have served multiple subpoenas on financial institutions to forensically 

investigate where company funds were spent and/or transferred, as well as several subpoenas on 

pre-receivership legal counsel and pre-receivership accountants to obtain their files, billing 

records, any remaining retainer amounts, documents/information regarding assets and any other 

related receivership documents.  The subpoena productions, which have begun and will be 

forthcoming, will help assist me in, among other things, tracing of funds and analyzing potential 

                                                 
4  As also stated above, I am currently investigating what other entities are covered by the definition 
of “Receivership Entity(ies).”  Once I make that determination, I will submit the appropriate filing 
to this Court.   
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third-party claims to file, namely “clawback” or fraudulent transfer claims, for recovery-based 

ancillary receivership litigation.   

Based on my limited investigation to date, which is both preliminary and ongoing, it is my 

preliminary conclusion that Mr. White used SDD and related entities he owned and/or controlled 

to operate deceptive student debt relief and other deceptive debt relief businesses to the detriment 

of consumers and to enrich himself personally and others.5  However, a more extensive 

investigation is necessary so that I can expound on this seminal issue in my future Reports.   

I have served as a District Court deputy receiver and receiver’s counsel in numerous FTC 

deceptive telemarketing (as well as Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) investment 

fraud) cases during my 16-year career.  It is truly an honor and privilege to serve as this Court’s 

Receiver and I intend to carry out my receivership duties at the highest level possible for the benefit 

of the Receivership Estate and victimized consumers.   

Throughout this process, my professionals and I have worked cooperatively with the FTC, 

with each side mindful of our respective responsibilities and duties.  The coordination of our efforts 

has resulted in several immediate accomplishments for the benefit of the Receivership Estate and, 

most importantly, the consumers.   

C. Identification and Freezing of Assets 

I am pleased to advise this Court that, since my appointment thirteen (13) days ago, I, with 

the help of my professionals and staff, and the assistance and cooperation of the FTC, have 

                                                 
5  Given the entry of the PI, including, but not limited to, Section I.B, Defendants have expressly 
stipulated that “[t]here is good cause to believe that Defendants have engaged in and are likely to 
engage in acts or practices that violate Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a) and the 
FTC’s Trade Regulation Rule entitled the ‘Telemarketing Sales Rule’ (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Part 
310, and therefore Plaintiff is likely to succeed on the merits of this action.”  As a result, 
Defendants have preliminarily admitted that the subject business could not be operated lawfully 
and profitably in compliance with the TRO or PI.    
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performed countless tasks, including identifying, locating and freezing the following accounts of 

Mr. White, SDD and related entities pursuant to the TRO (and now the PI) for a total amount of 

$2,001,790.24 frozen in at least nine accounts in at least three financial institutions, the itemized 

breakdown of which is:  

SDD ($493,636.00 in one account at Bank of America)6; 

SDD ($24,621.67 in one account at Banco Popular de Puerto Rico)7; 

Fidelity Debt Reserve LLC8 ($80,761.58 in one account at Bank of America); 

Fidelity Credit Repair LLC9 ($3,838.49 in one account at Bank of America); 

Fidelity Reserve Loans LLC10 ($2,363.10 in one account at Bank of America);  

Fidelity Asset Holdings Limited Partnership (which is FBO Gary Brent White, 
Jr.) (a total of $1,041,761.00 in two accounts at Merrill Lynch); and 

                                                 
6  I have had these SDD funds transferred from Bank of America to my protected receivership 
account which I promptly opened at Signature Bank for the benefit of the Receivership Estate. 
 
7  I have requested Banco Popular de Puerto Rico to transfer these SDD funds to my protected 
receivership account. 
 
8  I am currently investigating whether Fidelity Debt Reserve LLC is appropriately covered as a 
“Receivership Entity” under Section II.J of the PI.  Once I make that determination, I will submit 
the appropriate filing to this Court.  Until then, the subject funds will remain frozen pursuant to 
the TRO and PI.  I understand that Fidelity Debt Reserve LLC provided debt settlement and debt 
validation services, and also operated out of the SDD premises. 
 
9  I am currently investigating whether Fidelity Credit Repair LLC is appropriately covered as a 
“Receivership Entity” under Section II.J of the PI.  Once I make that determination, I will submit 
the appropriate filing to this Court.  Until then, the subject funds will remain frozen pursuant to 
the TRO and PI.  I understand that Fidelity Credit Repair LLC provided credit repair services and 
also operated out of the SDD premises.  
 
10  I am currently investigating whether Fidelity Reserve Loans LLC is appropriately covered as a 
“Receivership Entity” under Section II.J of the PI.  Once I make that determination, I will submit 
the appropriate filing to this Court.  Until then, the subject funds will remain frozen pursuant to 
the TRO and PI.  I understand that Fidelity Reserve Loans LLC was a new company that Mr. 
White was starting, was also known as Fidelity Lends, and was a lead company for lenders.  This 
company was close to becoming fully operational and was going to operate out of the SDD 
premises.    
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Gary Brent White, Jr. (a total of $354,808.40 in two accounts at Bank of 
America). 
 

In addition to freezing these above funds, I have identified other significant personal assets owned 

by Mr. White, including a Rolex Datejust watch and one real property, Mr. White’s 

townhome/condo residence located at 140 SE 4th Terrace, Pompano Beach, FL 33060, which he 

purchased in 2016 in the amount of $737,651.00 with funds apparently derived from SDD and/or 

related entities and which subsequently had two prior mortgages fully satisfied by Mr. White with 

funds apparently derived from SDD and/or related entities.   

The purpose of this Report is to more specifically advise this Court and other interested 

parties as to the material actions that I have taken since the commencement of this matter, and to 

satisfy my Court-ordered reporting obligations quoted above.  

II. The Steps Taken to Implement the Terms of the TRO and PI  

A. October 3, 2017 – Immediate Actions Taken 

Pursuant to the TRO, this Court appointed me as Receiver for the Receivership Entities on 

October 3, 2017.  That evening, I immediately assembled a team and engaged my professionals, 

including my legal counsel at the law firm of Sallah Astarita & Cox, LLC11 and my forensic 

accountants at the accounting firm of KapilaMukumal.12  I also immediately investigated SDD and 

                                                 
11  The primary attorneys working with me are James D. Sallah, Esq., Jeffrey L. Cox, Esq., and 
Patrick J. Rengstl, P.A.  I have previously worked with these attorneys in numerous other 
receivership matters.  After the seal expired, I moved to formally retain my counsel for purposes 
of transparency [DE 13], which this Court granted [DE 18]. 

12  The primary forensic accountants working with me are Soneet Kapila, CPA, CFF, CIRA, CFE, 
and Melissa Davis, CPA, CIRA, CFE.  Like my attorneys, I have worked with Mr. Kapila and Ms. 
Davis in numerous other receivership matters during my 16-year career.  I have also moved to 
formally retain my forensic accountants for purposes of transparency [DE 14], which this Court 
granted [DE 19].  They will provide me with forensic accounting investigative services, fiduciary 
support, and tax compliance services. 
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Mr. White, and determined that there were several additional entities that he owned and/or 

controlled and thus were potentially subject to the receivership, including: Student Debt Direct 

LLC13; Fidelity Credit Repair LLC; Fidelity Reserve Loans LLC; Fidelity Debt Reserve LLC; G 

White Enterprises LLC14; and Fidelity Law Center LLC.15  

B. October 4, 2017 to Date – Securing the Premises; Identifying, Securing, and 

Preserving Books and Records; Identifying, Securing, and Preserving Assets 

and Accounts; Effectuating the Asset Freeze; Interviewing Mr. White and the 

Employees; and Carrying Out My Many Other Court-Required Obligations 

 
1. Securing the Premises 

The next day (i.e., October 4, 2017), I, along with my attorneys, my forensic accountants, 

my computer forensic specialists, additional receivership agents, the attorneys and investigator 

from the FTC, the FTC’s computer forensic contractor and local law enforcement (including BSO 

swat team), took possession of and secured the relevant premises located at 3221 NW 10th Terrace, 

Suite 507 & 508, Oakland Park, FL 33309 and 3115 NW 10th Terrace, Suite 114, Oakland Park, 

FL 33309, and began inspecting the books and records therein (both hard copy and ESI).  I also 

had my receivership agents record and take pictures as this event took place.  In short summary, 

everything proceeded smoothly. 

                                                 
13  I am currently investigating whether this entity is appropriately covered as a “Receivership 
Entity” under Section II.J of the PI.  Once I make that determination, I will submit the appropriate 
filing to this Court.      
 
14  I am also currently investigating whether this entity is appropriately covered as a “Receivership 
Entity” under Section II.J of the PI.  Once I make that determination, I will submit the appropriate 
filing to this Court.  As of this Report, I can confirm that this specific entity was owned, controlled 
and/or created by Mr. White, paid various expenses associated with SDD, paid Mr. White’s 
compensation associated with SDD, and essentially acted as a d/b/a for SDD and/or as an entity 
purely for Mr. White’s convenience.         
 
15  Likewise, I am currently investigating whether this entity is appropriately covered as a 
“Receivership Entity” under Section II.J of the PI.  Once I make that determination, I will submit 
the appropriate filing to this Court.      
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When my professionals and I arrived at the premises, there were at least 83 employees 

present who were SDD’s and some of the above-listed entities’ telemarketers and/or sales staff 

who marketed, advertised, and/or sold to consumers student loan debt relief services and other 

types of purported debt relief services.  Present at the 3221 NW 10th Terrace premises was SDD’s 

principal, Gary Brent White, Jr.  

2. Service of the TRO on Financial Institutions and Merchant 

Companies 

 

Shortly before entering the premises to provide notice of the TRO to Mr. White, both the 

FTC and I served the TRO on many financial institutions, including Bank of America and Banco 

Popular de Puerto Rico, and merchant companies that potentially had accounts subject to the TRO 

and asset freeze.  In an abundance of caution, I demanded that the financial institutions and 

merchant companies served with the TRO freeze any and all accounts in the name of any of the 

following: Gary Brent White, Jr.; Student Debt Doctor LLC; Student Debt Direct LLC; Fidelity 

Credit Repair LLC; Fidelity Reserve Loans LLC; Fidelity Debt Reserve LLC; G White Enterprises 

LLC; Fidelity Law Center LLC; and any companies owned, controlled, or held by Gary Brent 

White, Jr. 

3. Notice of the TRO to, and Interviews of, Mr. White and the 

Employees  

 

My professionals and I notified Mr. White and all present staff of the nature of the 

receivership, the immediate and temporary shutdown of all business activities on the premises, 

their duty to cooperate, the imposition of the asset freeze over the Defendants’ and related entities’ 

assets and accounts, and the preservation of all books and records on the premises (both hard copy 

and ESI).  The pleadings in this matter were also served on Defendants.   

My professionals and I thoroughly interviewed Mr. White and many key employees to 

identify, secure, and preserve the following (further discussed below in various sections): (i) all 
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books and records of SDD; (ii) all books and records of its related entities; (iii) all accounts and 

assets, including information on same, of SDD; (iv) all accounts and assets, including information 

on same, of the related entities; (v) all accounts and assets, including information on same, of Mr. 

White; and (vi) customer files and accounts.  Moreover, I requested the employees to provide a 

copy of their driver’s license and to complete a questionnaire (attached as Exhibit A) of 

information required in Section XI.B.4 of the TRO, and that I intend to use to address future 

interviews, investigation and subsequent employee-related issues.  In addition, attached as Exhibit 

B is a schematic of the layout of the premises including work stations.16  

4. Identification of Assets and Accounts 

Specifically, during my interview of Mr. White,17 I discovered the following regarding 

company and personal assets: (i) the various entities, including SDD, currently had several 

hundreds of thousands of dollars in total at Bank of America; (ii) SDD had a limited amount of 

money at Banco Popular de Puerto Rico; (iii) Mr. White currently had over $300,000 at Bank of 

America; (iv) Mr. White currently had approximately $1 million at Merrill Lynch; (v) Mr. White 

owned, and was wearing at that time, a Rolex Datejust watch; and (vi) Mr. White owned his 

townhome/condo in Pompano Beach free and clear, and had previously paid off two mortgages on 

the property.18  Upon further questioning, Mr. White did not identify any additional company or 

personal assets or accounts. 

                                                 
16  SDD employed six programmers, a marketing/web designer, and a marketing/social media 
employee.  As such, SDD and its related entities placed a heavy emphasis on technology and hence 
the necessity for my engagement of computer forensic specialists (further discussed below).    
 
17  During the interview, Mr. White’s initial counsel (and pre-receivership company counsel) 
Robby Birnbaum, Esq. from Greenspoon Marder, P.A. was present.  However, Greenspoon 
Marder is no longer representing Mr. White in this proceeding.  I have issued a subpoena on that 
firm for its SDD-related client files, billing records, and other relevant receivership documents. 
 
18  Because this real property is free and clear of mortgages, and was purchased with funds derived 
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Upon learning about these sizeable assets and accounts, my professionals and I 

immediately instructed Mr. White that all assets and accounts are subject to the TRO’s asset freeze 

and such assets/accounts cannot be spent, used, transferred or sold until further Order of this Court.  

Mr. White stated he fully understood and would fully comply with the asset freeze.  

5. Further Securing of the Premises  

I changed the locks on the premises’ doors, temporarily hired for three days security at 

Orna Security Services to patrol the various premises during both business and non-business hours, 

ensured the security video-camera system on the premises was actively working and under my 

control, and ensured that the premises’ security alarm account and passwords were changed into 

my name and under my control.  I also placed a one-page notice document on the front door of the 

premises regarding the commencement of the receivership and current shutdown of the business 

premises.  I will be redirecting mail to a post office box under my control.19  

6. Securing, Preserving, and Imaging Extensive Computer and 

Communication Systems  

 

Prior to entering the premises, I engaged Computer Forensics, LLC, and its principal Mr. 

Patrick Paige, on a limited-basis as my receivership forensic computer/ESI specialist to assist me 

in carrying out my duties to secure and preserve all information technology (“IT”) and ESI, to 

provide additional support to the FTC’s computer contractor and to ensure everything IT- and ESI-

related on the premises and regarding the various entities were properly preserved, accessed, 

                                                 
from SDD and/or related entities, I will be promptly filing and recording a Notice of Lis Pendens 
on this property to ensure it is not sold, mortgaged or otherwise transferred or encumbered post-
receivership and pending further Order of this Court. 
 
19  I understand that SDD and/or its related entities had at least two virtual, remote offices (without 
employees or formal operations) in Puerto Rico and locally for purposes of collecting mail and 
other administrative functions.  I am in the process of identifying these locations and serving the 
PI on those virtual offices. 
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11 

imaged and ultimately turned over to the receivership.20  Generally speaking, the premises had a 

minimal amount of hard copy files considering the large amount of employees on the payroll and 

the business’s apparent revenue.  

After entering Suites 507 and 508, Mr. Paige, with the assistance of the FTC’s computer 

forensic contractor, CACI, unplugged routers and Internet access to prevent any breach into the 

internal computer and electronic communication systems.  They also began accessing and securing 

the ESI and systems.21  This was crucial because SDD maintained a call center with numerous 

computers, onsite and offsite data, and extensive electronic communication systems.  In 

accordance with the TRO (and now the PI), I have worked to cooperate with the FTC by providing 

it with access to electronic data and information. 

i. Secured Electronic Data and Telephonic 

Communication Systems 

 

My preliminary investigation revealed that SDD compensated 91 people (i.e., 86 

employees and 5 contractors), and, as a result, maintained over 90 computers onsite.  On my first 

day as Receiver, I ensured that the forensic computer specialists preserved such equipment by 

forensically imaging select computers, including those of SDD’s principal (Mr. White), 

                                                 
20  Mr. Paige of Computer Forensics, LLC was a police officer from 1989 until 2011 for the Palm 
Beach County Sheriff’s Office.  From 2000 to 2011, he was a detective in the Computer Crimes 
Unit.  He has conducted forensic computer examinations for the Broward County Sheriff’s Office; 
Federal Bureau of Investigation; U.S. Customs and Border Protection; Florida Department of Law 
Enforcement; U.S. Secret Service; Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives; and 
various municipalities in the jurisdiction of Palm Beach County.  Mr. Paige has testified as a fact 
and expert witness on numerous occasions in the field of computer forensics in proceedings before 
state, federal, and military courts, including in California, Florida, Indiana, New Jersey, New York 
and Pennsylvania. 
 
21  SDD’s IT Manager cooperated with me and the computer forensic specialists.  This enabled 
them to quickly access, understand, and begin securing electronic information. 
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supervisors, IT manager, and human resources personnel, among others.  These images allowed 

me to preserve the original computers and maintain the status quo.    

ii. Preserved Electronic Mail 

My professionals were able to access and maintain email systems.  Based on my 

preliminary review, I understand that I was able to capture more than one (1) million emails.  These 

emails, many of which have attachments, contain a voluminous amount of data.  This information 

may be searched with forensic software and keywords.  I have begun to review certain computer 

data and information in an attempt to better understand SDD’s and its related entities’ “operations.”  

If deemed necessary to carry out my Court-ordered mandate, I anticipate that a review of the 

electronic correspondence would be a substantial undertaking.   

iii. Rerouted and Maintained Telephonic Communication 

System 

 

I quickly discovered that SDD had purchased and was actively operating at least 182 

different telephone lines.  I found that SDD used Vicidail call center software to run the telephone 

calls through Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP).  I secured access to this extensive system and 

directed all 182 telephone numbers to one voicemail box.  I then left voicemail messages within 

this box for all future, incoming calls which inform callers that: (i) SDD and the other entities 

operating out of the premises are shut down and subject to the TRO (and now the PI); and (ii) 

interested persons should review the receivership website http://studentdebtdoctorreceiver.com.  

Ultimately, I intend to direct consumer inquiries and consumer claims to the FTC.    

I also had a specific email address created for this voicemail box; it captures messages from 

the 182 lines and then emails them to me and/or my professionals so that we may respond to 

necessary incoming calls as quickly as possible over time. 

 

Case 0:17-cv-61937-WPD   Document 25-1   Entered on FLSD Docket 10/16/2017   Page 12 of 63

From Arti
cle at G

etO
utO

fDebt.o
rg



13 

iv. Secured Onsite and Offsite Data and Video 

My preliminary investigation has revealed that SDD maintained a sophisticated database, 

also known as a Customer Relationship Management, Structured Query Language (“SQL”), 

database (collectively, “CRM”).  Among other things, the CRM: (i) logged and tracked client 

transactions, including payment information and the status of consumers’ contracts; (ii) maintained 

telephone call notes; and (iii) contained multiple development servers for a new CRM.  Telephone 

calls with consumers were recorded and stored on a separate server from the CRM servers.     

Significantly, since at least October 2015, SDD stored the recorded calls22 and CRM with 

a global cloud hosting company called Vultr Holdings Corporation (“Vultr”), which my 

professionals contacted, served the TRO on and subpoenaed to preserve, obtain images from and 

obtain immediate access to.  As a result, my specialists have preserved all of this call data, as well 

as the various databases and servers, including SDD’s and its related entities’ CRM, internal 

websites, and at least 44 domain names.   

There were 10 virtual servers stored through Vultr.  The amount of data is voluminous and 

incudes 2-terabytes of compressed data which uncompressed may amount up to 5-terabytes of 

data.  Once my specialists uncompress the data, I will be able to confirm that Vultr fully preserved 

all the data.  However, at this time, I have no reason to believe that Vultr failed to fully preserve 

it. 

I have begun to analyze these databases/servers, including listening to recorded telephone 

conversations with consumers and identifying approximately 30,000 potential consumer victims 

since early 2014 and approximately 8,000 currently.23  I have also run a preliminary query on the 

                                                 
22  There are 1,710,077 call files in MP3 format of 614 gigabytes. 
 
23  According to SDD’s CRM, there were 29,835 customers.  Fidelity Debt Reserve LLC and 
Fidelity Credit Repair LLC had separate CRM’s from SDD’s CRM.  According to Fidelity Credit 
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SDD CRM for consumer payments (i.e., revenue) into the company, which total approximately 

$13.4 million.24  SDD’s pre-receivership IT employee has represented to me that this amount is 

fairly accurate, but likely not exact.  My forensic accountants will be investigating, and ultimately 

confirming, the amount of revenue through their cash reconstruction of the bank and merchant 

accounts.      

I also discovered that in Suites 507 and 508, SDD maintained 32 security cameras with 

recorded footage on an 8-terabyte hard drive.  Similarly, Suite 114 maintained 8 security cameras 

with recorded video on a 2-terabyte hard drive.  My specialists have forensically cloned the original 

video footage to preserve it.  This video includes video of the day that I took possession of and 

secured the premises, as well as video prior to same.  I have reviewed some of the cloned video to 

better understand SDD’s and its related entities’ “operations.”  Notably, my review of certain video 

footage also revealed that after I entered Suites 507 and 508, one employee left these suites, and 

went to warn the employees inside Suite 114 (an unknown suite to me at the time of securing 

Suites 507 and 508).  Video is clear that employees within Suite 114 then quickly removed SDD 

signage from the door and exited its premises.   

v. Created a Receivership Website That Is Currently 

Publicly Available 

 

I discovered that SDD and some of its related entities (such as Fidelity Debt Reserve LLC 

and G White Enterprises LLC) maintained active websites on the Internet.  My professionals 

redirected these sites to a receivership website that I have created to provide information, including 

select court filings, to the public. The receivership website is located on the Internet at 

                                                 
Repair LLC’s CRM, there were 562 customers.   
 
24  I am also in the process of running other queries on the CRM, including, but not limited to, 
chargebacks or “cancelled” transactions.  
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www.studentdebtdoctorreceiver.com.  The receivership site also contains an email address, 

admin@studentdebtdoctorreceiver.com, so that the public may contact me via email.  I will use 

this site as a means of communication with the public.  I plan to update it during the pendency of 

the receivership to continue to provide timely information to interested persons.   

vi. Passwords Obtained and Changed 

In order to accomplish these tasks, I quickly obtained numerous passwords and user ID 

data from three main sources.  Specifically, I gathered passwords from: (i) SDD’s accountant, 

which provided me and my professionals access to numerous financial accounts, accounting 

records, and passwords; (ii) Mr. White’s office computer (from which specialists extracted over 

100 passwords); and (iii) SDD’s IT manager, who cooperated with me and provided me with lists 

of over 310 encrypted passwords.  Computer forensic specialists then changed the passwords 

necessary to protect assets and financial data in accordance with the TRO. 

vii. Social Media Located and Modified  

My preliminary investigation has revealed that SDD maintained 16 different, active social 

media sites on Facebook and/or Instagram and one on Twitter.  My professionals modified these 

social media outlets to include information about the receivership and its website.  They also 

included an autoresponder to any messages that are sent by the public via social media.   

7. Ceasing of Business Operations 

I have ceased all business operations and, pending further Order of this Court, have advised 

the employees that they need not report to work.  Given the entry of the PI, I intend to vacate the 

premises and intend to obtain the premises’ landlord’s agreement that the Receivership Estate is 

not liable for any past due or future rent.  Vacating the premises will eliminate a potential 

significant expense, and liability, to the Receivership Estate (further discussed below).  I will 

ultimately auction or otherwise sell – with this Court’s approval – the personal property (including 
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office equipment and furniture) which is owned by the Receivership Entities (again, further 

discussed below).  

8. Approval of Surety and Bond 

Finally, from an administrative standpoint, I have complied with Section XI.I of the TRO 

and have obtained a bond (Bond No. 016075227) in the amount of $25,000.00 with surety Liberty 

Mutual Insurance Company.  I moved for approval of the surety and bond [DE 12], which this 

Court granted [DE 17].  I also conventionally filed the original bond with the Clerk of Court [DE 

15]. 

      III.     The Value of All Liquidated and Unliquidated Assets of the Receivership Entities  

A. Bank Accounts 

As stated above, I learned that SDD, its related entities and Mr. White had several bank 

accounts at several financial institutions.  Bank of America has confirmed that, pursuant to the 

TRO, it has frozen: (i) $493,636.00 in the name of SDD; (ii) $80,761.58 in the name of Fidelity 

Debt Reserve LLC; (iii) $3,838.49 in the name of Fidelity Credit Repair LLC; (iv) $2,363.10 in 

the name of Fidelity Reserve Loans LLC; and (v) $354,808.40 in the name of Mr. White.  At least 

one relevant account at Bank of America pre-receivership in the name of “G. White Enterprises 

LLC DBA SDD” had no funds.  Similarly, Banco Popular de Puerto Rico has confirmed that, 

pursuant to the TRO, it has frozen $24,621.67 in the name of SDD.  Merrill Lynch, which I 

promptly served with the TRO upon my initial meeting with Mr. White, has confirmed that, 

pursuant to the TRO, it has frozen $1,041,761.00 in the name of Fidelity Asset Holdings Limited 

Partnership (which I understand is FBO Mr. White).   

Because SDD is clearly a Receivership Entity, I have requested that Bank of America and 

Banco Popular de Puerto Rico transfer the funds held in the SDD accounts at the respective banks 

to my receivership bank account.  I have received the funds in the amount of $493,636.00 from 
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Bank of America and expect to shortly receive the funds in the amount of $24,621.67 from Banco 

Popular de Puerto Rico.  I have therefore established a receivership bank account at Signature 

Bank to deposit and safeguard these funds.  The remaining personal and company funds identified 

above will remain frozen in the pre-receivership bank accounts at each financial institution pending 

further Order of this Court.  

In addition, I, through my counsel, have subpoenaed several financial institutions and credit 

card companies, including Bank of America, Banco Popular de Puerto Rico, American Express 

and Merrill Lynch, for all account records, such as account statements, deposits, withdrawals, 

wires and account opening documents.  I have also subpoenaed pre-receivership law firms and 

accounting firms which may have relevant receivership information, including Greenspoon 

Marder, P.A., Blaxberg, Grayson, Kukoff & Forteza, P.A., Rosenberg, Cummings & Edwards 

PLLC, Snyder & Snyder, P.A., Villela & Shilts, LLC and Kaufman Rossin, P.A., for their files, 

billing records, any remaining retainer amounts, asset information (including onshore and potential 

offshore25 accounts), and other related receivership documents.  I have begun to receive and will 

continue to receive the subpoenaed records.  My forensic accountants will then analyze the most 

relevant records to determine the use of receivership funds and potential claims against third 

parties.     

B. Office Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 

 I have secured the office furniture, fixtures, equipment, and personalty in the various 

premises.  I am in the process of determining what personalty is owned by the Receivership 

Entities.  Whatever is owned by the Receivership Entities will be – upon Court approval – sold at 

                                                 
25  There were several references to, among others, Belize and the Cook Islands in Mr. White’s 
office at the premises.  I am obviously investigating this issue. 
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auction or other sale.  I engaged an appraiser to value such items.  A copy of the appraisal report 

in the estimated total liquidation amount of $27,611.50 for the personalty from my receivership 

appraiser and anticipated auctioneer (Martin Claire & CO, LLC) is attached as Exhibit C.26 

Whatever personalty is not owned by the Receivership Entities will be returned to their 

owners.  To that extent, I have been in communication with former employees and others to 

coordinate and supervise the removal from the premises of personal items and files. 

As stated above, and given the entry of the PI, I intend to accelerate the liquidation of the 

personalty, vacate the premises expeditiously and obtain the landlord’s agreement that the 

Receivership Entities are not liable for any past due or future rent.  Vacating the premises should 

eliminate a significant expense to the Receivership Estate.   

 C. Personal Items  

I am continuing to investigate what personal assets may be subject to the receivership.  At 

a minimum, I have confirmed that Mr. White purchased a Rolex Datejust watch for over $6,000 

in late August 2017 and Mr. White was wearing that Rolex watch when I secured the premises and 

interviewed him on October 4, 2017.  As also stated above, Mr. White owns his townhome/condo 

in Pompano Beach free and clear, having purchased it for $737,651.00 in 2016 and having 

previously paid off two mortgages on the property.   

D. Security Deposits 

 I have served the TRO and PI on the landlord who leased offices at the relevant premises 

located at 3221 NW 10th Terrace, Suite 507 & 508, Oakland Park, FL 33309 and 3115 NW 10th 

Terrace, Suite 114, Oakland Park, FL 33309.  I am investigating whether any security deposits are 

                                                 
26  I have likewise worked with Mr. Claire in numerous other receivership matters during the last 
10 years.   
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subject to the receivership.   

E. Defendants’ Accounting of Assets  

Sections VII.A-C, XII.D, XIII.A-D, and XVI.A-B of the TRO and Sections VII.A-C, 

XVI.D, XX.A-D, and XXIII.A-B of the PI require Defendants to provide, among other things, 

various disclosures, primarily financial in nature, to me and the FTC.  As of this Report, this has 

not occurred, but I understand that Defendants are working on same and should be complying 

shortly, absent which I will file the appropriate motion with this Court.  In addition, I will be 

promptly serving a formal demand on Mr. White regarding various items of information and 

documents that are expressly owed under the TRO and PI, and/or required to be produced to me 

because the information/documents are related to the receivership.   

IV. The Sum of All the Liabilities of the Receivership Entities   

A. The Office Lease 

On March 6, 2014, SDD began leasing offices located at 3115 NW 10th Terrace, Suite 114, 

Oakland Park, FL 33309 (“Suite 114”) from Oakland Commerce Center, LLC (the “Office 

Lease”).  On August 10, 2015, the Office Lease was amended (the “First Amendment”), and SDD 

returned Suite 114 to the landlord and began leasing 3221 NW 10th Terrace, Suite 507 & 508, 

Oakland Park, FL 33309 (“Suites 507-508”).  The term of the First Amendment was four years 

commencing on October 1, 2015 and expiring on September 30, 2019.  On October 14, 2016, the 

Office Lease was amended a second time (the “Second Amendment”), and SDD added Suite 114 

to the lease.  The current monthly rent for Suites 507-508 and Suite 114 is $6,491.93 through 

November 30, 2017, and increases to $6,752.70 on December 1, 2018 through November 30, 2019, 

when the Office Lease terminates.  On September 28, 2017, SDD assigned its lease in Suite 114 

to related entity Fidelity Reserve Loans LLC.  Notably, Mr. White signed the assignment for both 

entities.  
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B. The Porsche Lease 

 In addition to the Office Lease, there is a lease for a 2016 Porsche Panamera GTS driven 

by Mr. White, but leased in the names of G White Enterprises LLC (one of the related entities I 

am currently investigating as a potential Receivership Entity) and also Mr. White’s mother.  I have 

determined that the vehicle has no equity, pursuant to the appraisal report that I had performed by 

my appraiser/auctioneer Martin Claire & CO, LLC.  The appraisal report from Martin Claire & 

CO, LLC regarding the Porsche is attached as Exhibit D.  I am currently investigating and 

evaluating the best manner to have this lease cancelled, abandoned or transferred, or the Porsche 

vehicle sold, without liability to the Receivership Estate.  The lease has more than one year in 

remaining payments and has a monthly lease payment of $1,890.56.   

C. Receivership Administrative Expenses 

As of the receivership’s commencement, and putting aside professional fees and expenses, 

the receivership has incurred administrative expenses of a few thousand dollars, including, but not 

limited to, Orna Security Services, bond premium, locksmith, and appraisal reports. 

D. Cash Reconstruction 

As stated above, and in order to assist me in marshaling the Receivership Entities’ assets 

for the benefit of the Receivership Estate, I retained the forensic accounting firm of 

KapilaMukamal (“KM”).  KM has begun a preliminary forensic analysis of certain bank accounts 

and financial records.  There was minimal (and incomplete) financial records on the premises.   

SDD utilized the services of at least two outside accounting firms (first, Kaufman Rossin, 

P.A. and then Villela & Shilts, LLC) that prepared bookkeeping and tax services for SDD and its 

related entities.  KM and I contacted both accountants to obtain the historical accounting and tax 

and supporting records for each entity.  KM is currently in the process of reviewing the production 

of documents from both accountants.   
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I requested KM to prepare a reconstruction of the cash activity of SDD and its related 

entities to quantify the amount of consumer funds that were collected and to determine how the 

consumer funds were utilized.  To gain a preliminary understanding of the cash activity, KM 

obtained access to SDD’s QuickBooks general ledger file and utilized the data to prepare a 

preliminary reconstruction of the cash activity as reported in the general ledger.   KM also obtained 

bank records from the Bank of America website for SDD bank accounts and certain related entity 

accounts.  In addition, my attorneys have subpoenaed the banks where SDD, its related entities, 

and Mr. White had accounts in order for KM to complete its forensic analysis.     

KM is in the process of reconstructing the activity in the accounts and will utilize the 

information obtained from QuickBooks and the subpoena productions to further supplement the 

bank reconstruction.  The bank reconstruction will aid in not only quantifying the amount of 

consumer funds and ultimate disposition, but it will also be a tool for me and my professionals to 

identify potential assets of the Receivership Estate.   

E. Credit Cards 

 Defendants utilized at least four American Express card accounts to pay expenses, some of 

which were personal in nature.27  KM obtained the transaction detail for each American Express 

account and is in the process of preparing a reconstruction of the charges and payments.  This 

reconstruction will be used to determine the amount in consumer funds used to make credit card 

payments and the types of charges made, and to identify potential assets of the Receivership Estate. 

 Defendants also utilized credit cards with Bank of America.  KM is in the process of 

analyzing the credit card statements and will prepare a reconstruction of the credit card activity.  

 

                                                 
27  These credit cards were in the names of SDD, Fidelity Debt Reserve LLC, Fidelity Law Center 
LLC, and Mr. White.  

Case 0:17-cv-61937-WPD   Document 25-1   Entered on FLSD Docket 10/16/2017   Page 21 of 63

From Arti
cle at G

etO
utO

fDebt.o
rg



22 

F. Payroll Records 

SDD utilized ADP payroll service to process payroll.  I took custody of available ADP 

payroll records that were accessible on the ADP website.  These available records spanned the pay 

periods ending February 9, 2017 through September 29, 2017.  KM extracted payroll summary 

and detail reports for this period.  Records prior to the February 9, 2017 pay period will be 

subpoenaed from ADP.  The lists from ADP contain 86 active employees and 5 contractors.  

G. Merchant Accounts 

SDD and some of its related entities utilized merchant accounts to process payments from 

consumers.  I have identified merchant accounts with American Express, Myclientline.net, 

Authorize.net, Evertec, PayPal, Banco Popular de Puerto Rico, Bank of America Merchant 

Services, First Data, Reliant Account Management, and ensured each was served, or will be served, 

with the TRO/PI so any funds or reserves remaining in the merchant accounts would be frozen.28  

For accounts with known client login information, all available activity details were obtained from 

the merchant websites.  Subpoenas will be issued for additional records.  Merchant account data 

will be compared to bank records and utilized in the reconstruction of cash activity.  

V. The Steps I Intend to Take in the Future to: (a) Prevent Any Diminution in the 

Value of Assets of the Receivership Entities, (b) Pursue Receivership Assets from 

Third Parties, and (c) Adjust the Liabilities of the Receivership Entities, If 

Appropriate 

 

A. Prevent Any Diminution in the Value of Assets of the Receivership Entities 

As stated above, I intend to promptly cancel all lease agreements without penalty to the 

Receivership Estate.  Regarding the issue of timing, I intend to promptly confirm that the office 

furniture, furnishings and equipment are subject to the Receivership Estate, and assuming they are, 

                                                 
28  Mr. White and others have informed me that there were never reserves held at the merchant 
companies.  Naturally, I will be confirming same.  
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then promptly file a motion to liquidate such using Martin Claire & CO, LLC.  Once that occurs, 

I intend to vacate the various premises, which should eliminate a continuing, significant leasehold 

liability and thus eliminate a diminution in value of assets of the Receivership Estate. 

B. Pursue Receivership Assets from Third Parties 

I am investigating the number of affected consumers and the amount of their individual 

claims.  This investigation includes the total number of consumers, the total amount of their loss, 

and potential litigation targets.  The databases/servers preserved and imaged by Vultr, as well as 

my accountants’ reconstruction of the relevant bank accounts, will be highly relevant for purposes 

this specific investigation.   

The amount of data from the bank records and CRM from the various databases/severs is 

very substantial and will take some time to analyze and digest.  I am very mindful of the issue of 

expenses and the necessity for efficiency and limiting expenses as much as possible in every aspect 

of this proceeding, including investigating and filing ancillary lawsuits for additional recoveries to 

benefit the Receivership Estate.  I intend to make every decision with a cost-benefit analysis of the 

specific spending versus the specific potential recovery, on a case-by-case basis.   

I am currently in the process of identifying targets, including various persons and business 

entities that improperly received funds derived from SDD and/or its related entities or otherwise 

did something improper to the detriment of SDD and/or its related entities.29  I will be serving pre-

suit demand letters on identified targets, which may result in ancillary lawsuits.  For the time being, 

I will not be identifying those targets for purposes of attorney-client privilege and work product.  

 

 

                                                 
29  Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 754, I have begun, and will continue, to file the TRO and PI in various 
jurisdictions where receivership assets are located, or may be located, to ensure federal 
receivership jurisdiction over same. 
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C. Adjust the Liabilities of the Receivership Entities, If Appropriate 

 

As stated above, and given this brand-new proceeding, I have been unable to reconstruct 

the entire financial and/or entire operational structure of SDD and its related entities, including the 

total amount of liabilities owed by them and making any necessary adjustments to their liabilities.  

I will be reporting on this issue in future Reports. 

VI. Whether the Business of the Receivership Entities Can Be Operated Lawfully and 

Profitably 

 

Given the entry of the PI, including, but not limited to, Section I.B, Defendants have 

expressly stipulated that “[t]here is good cause to believe that Defendants have engaged in and are 

likely to engage in acts or practices that violate Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a) and 

the FTC’s Trade Regulation Rule entitled the ‘Telemarketing Sales Rule’ (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Part 

310, and therefore Plaintiff is likely to succeed on the merits of this action.”  As a result, 

Defendants have preliminarily conceded that the subject business could not be operated lawfully 

and profitably in compliance with the TRO or PI.  

Notwithstanding the above stipulated admission by Defendants, I have inspected the books 

and records on the premises, have reviewed sales scripts on the premises and have listened to 

certain recorded phone conversations between telemarketers and consumers (including certain 

ones stored on Mr. White’s business computer), and preliminarily conclude that SDD’s and its 

related entities’ business operations were non-compliant with the law.  For example, scripts 

instructed telemarketers to “push” an inaccurate definition of family size and one example read: 

“Family Size- (Push if needed) Your family size isn’t your dependents on your taxes.  It’s anyone 

that you partially financially help.  Niece, Nephew, cousin, sick mother or father.  Anyone that 

takes away from your ability to make a monthly payment.”  Similarly, I personally listened to 
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recorded phone conversations in which telemarketers pushed this inaccurate definition of family 

size, including grown children and grandchildren.   

Other scripts had, among other things, the same or similar inaccurate definition of family 

size, contained deceptive pre-qualifying language, removed language that informed the consumer 

of his/her rights, and represented that SDD was only paid after obtaining results.  Similarly, there 

were materials on the premises stressing the importance of fear-based sales to pressure consumers 

and ultimately capitalize on their fears.     

VII. Any Other Matters Which I Believe Should Be Brought to the Court’s Attention  

 

A. The $17,500 to Mr. White under the PI 

Before entry of the PI, my professionals and I evaluated the issue of $17,500 being 

unfrozen from one of the company accounts and transferred to Mr. White for living expenses 

pursuant to Section XXV of the PI.  I concluded, along with the FTC, that this amount was an 

appropriate one-time amount of money under the circumstances, and was in the best interest of the 

Receivership Estate.  For example, the Receivership Estate would have incurred significant 

expenses for me and my professionals to prepare for and attend the PI evidentiary hearing (and 

potential additional PI hearing days), as I undoubtedly would have been a key witness on direct 

and cross examination.  As a result, I concluded using my best business judgment that the one-

time release of funds was in the Receivership Estate’s best interests by preserving associated 

professional fees and expenses.   

B. Inspection of Mr. White’s Residence 

On October 12, 2017, I inspected Mr. White’s residence in Pompano Beach (with his 

consent and his counsel’s consent).  There were no company or personal assets of a significant 

value that were readily-apparent to me.  I also inspected the residence for any receivership books 

and records.  Similarly, there were no business records readily-apparent to me.  I will be requesting 
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ROBERT CAREY, RECEIVER 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, and Plaintiff, v. 

STUDENT DEBT DOCTOR LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and 
GARY BRENT WHITE, JR., individually and as an officer of Defendant Student Debt Doctor 

LLC, Defendants. 
Robert@robertcareylaw.com 

Provide copy of driver’s license and attach hereto. 

Date:__________ 

EMPLOYEE QUESTIONNAIRE 

1. NAME:

2. SOCIAL SECURITY #:

3. ADDRESS:

4. CONTACT / PHONE #:

5. JOB DESCRIPTITON AND POSITION WITH COMPANY:

6. HIRE DATE:

7. METHOD OF COMPENSATION AND PAY RATE:

8. ESTIMATED AMOUNT OWED FOR PERIOD ENDING (all accrued and unpaid commissions

and compensation):

9. SUPERVISOR/MANAGER:

10. PASSWORD/LOGIN INFORMATION:

11. LIST AND TURN OVER COMPANY PROPERTY (IE: ELECTRONICS, LAPTOP, CELL
PHONE, KEYS,  ETC…

12. LIST ASSETS OR PROPERTY OF COMPANY YOU ARE AWARE OF (IE: MAILBOXES,
STORAGE UNITS, OTHER OFFICES, OR RLEATED ENTITIES, ETC…):

I ACKNOWLEDGE RECEIPT OF THE TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER AND AGREE TO 
TURN OVER ANY ASSET OF THE RECEIVERSHIP ENTITIES IN MY POSSESSION TO THE 
RECEIVER AND WILL NOT TRANSFER OR CAUSE TO BE TRANSFERRED ANY RECEIVERSHIP 
ENITITY ASSEST, INLCUDING CASHING ANY OUTSTANDING CHECKS. 

______________________________  _________ 

EMPLOYEE SIGNATURE              DATE 
Thank you.  

Robert Carey, Receiver 
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